
 

 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 
 

 

 
Planning Commission Meeting 

Wednesday, July 19, 2017 at 6:00 p.m. 

Village Administration Building 

99 High Street 

South Lebanon, Ohio 45065 

 

 Agenda Item 

  

1. Call to Order 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

3. Roll Call 

4. Open Forum 

5. Review and Approval of Minutes 

 A. Minutes of March 28, 2017 
  

6. Public Hearing – None 

7. Old Business   

A. None 

8. New Business 

A. Case 17-07P: Application for Site Plan Approval for Primrose School, 719 Corwin 
Nixon Boulevard 

 

9. Communications 

10. Adjournment 

 

Members of the public may address the Planning Commission during the Open Forum segment of 
the agenda and shall be limited to five minutes each.  After the speaker concludes remarks, the 
Planning Commission may comment or ask questions at that time.  The Chairperson may at his or 
her discretion restrict duplicate testimony on a particular subject. 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

Village of South Lebanon 

99 N. High St. South Lebanon, Ohio 45065 

(513)494-2296        Fax:(513)464-1656 

www.southlebanonohio.org 

Planning Commission Meeting 

MEETING MINUTES 

March 28, 2017 

 

Members Present:         Members Absent:       Staff: 

Tom Hunsche          Darrick Zucco        Jerry Haddix, 

Dennis Rees              Administrator 

Bill Madison             Brianna Yarbrough,  

Jim Smith              Clerk 

 

1. Call to order at 5:30 PM 

 

2. Pledge of Allegiance  

 

3.  

4. Roll Call 

 

5. Open Forum 

 

6. Review and Approval of Minutes of February 1, 2017. After the minutes were reviewed, a motion 

to approve was made by Tom Hunsche and was seconded by Denis Rees. A vote was taken: All 

YEAS 

 

7. Public Hearing: None  

 

8. Old Business: None 

 

9. New Business: 

a) Case 17-04P: Application for Approval of the Final Development Plan and Construction 

Drawings for Wynstead Section 4 Subdivision. Application was submitted by Grand 

Communities, LTD (Fischer Homes) on February 9, 2017. Fischer Homes submitted the FDP 

for Section 4 of Wynstead Subdivision Consisting pf 42 single family lots comprising 7.824 

acres. This is a continuation of the Wynstead development. This section will complete Castle 

Drive between Emerald Drive and Windsor Court. Bayer Becker, the Developer’s engineer, 

has made corrections from Choice One Engineering and the Warren County Water Department. 

Awaiting comments from the Hamilton Township Fire Department. Due to the consistency of 

http://www.southlebanonohio.org/


the FDP with the Preliminary Development Plan, staff recommends that the Planning 

Commission adopt a motion to approve the Final Development plan and Construction 

Drawings with the following conditions:  

 

1) Enter into a Development Agreement with the Village and fulfill bonding requirements as 

required by the Village Solicitor in accordance with the Village Zoning Regulations; 

2) Review and approve the “Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions” by the Village 

Solicitor; and  

3) Approval the Construction Drawings by the Hamilton Township Fire Department 

 

A motion to approve the Final Development Plan & Construction Drawings for Wynstead 

Section 4 was made by Tom Hunsche and was seconded by Dennis Rees. A vote was taken: 4 

YEAS, Tom Hunsche voted NAY. 

 

b) Case 17-05P: Application for approval of the Final Record Plat for the Woodknoll Section 4 

Subdivision. Application was submitted by McCarty Associates, LLC, on behalf of Shepherds 

Crossing Developments, LLC. On June 27, 2016, the Village Planning Commission approved 

the preliminary plat for sail Property. The property is comprised of 5.483 acres between Mary 

Lane Extension and Sunset Drive. This plat will create 12 single family lots and one open space 

lot. The present zoning designation is R-3 Planned Unit Development (PUD) which was part 

of the original Woodknoll development. The Final Record Plat has been sent to the Village’s 

engineer on the development, Choice One Engineering, as well as the Warren County Tax Map 

Department.  Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a motion to approve the 

Final Record Plat and authorize Chairman Zucco to sign the Mylar with the following 

Conditions:  

 

1) Comply with all comments from the Village Engineer, Warren County Tax Map 

Department or any other reviewing agency 

2) Provide the statements pursuant to Section 15.20.10 of Village Subdivision Regulations.  

3) Per Village Subdivision Regulations: developer is to enter into a Development Agreement 

with the Village Council for approval of Record Plat.  

 

A motion to approve the Final Record Plat for the Woodknoll Section 4 Subdivision was made 

by Tom Hunsche and seconded by Bill Madison. A vote was taken: all YEAS. 

 

c) Case 17-06P: Application for approval of the Final Record Plat for the Shephard’s Crossing    

Section 2 Subdivision. Application was submitted by McCarty Associates, LLC, on behalf of 

Shepherd’s Crossing Development, LLC. On June 27, 2016, the Village Planning Commission 

approved the preliminary plat for said property, which, at that time, was known as Woodknoll 

Section 5A. Due to the access solely coming from the Shepherd’s Crossing subdivision, the 

Developer has decided to name it after the connecting side. This plat will create 17 single family 

lots. The present zoning designation is R-3 Planned Unit Development (PUD) whish was part 

of the original Woodknoll development. The Final Record Plat has been sent to Choice One 

Engineering, as well as the Warren County Tax Map Department for review. Staff recommends 

that the Planning Commission adopt a motion to approve the Final Record Plat and authorize 

Chairman Zucco to sign the Mylar with the following conditions: 

 

1) Comply with all comments from the Village Engineer, Warren County Tax Map 

Department or any other reviewing agency; 

2) Provide the statements pursuant to Section 15.20.10 of Village Subdivision Regulations; 

and 



3) Per Village Subdivision Regulations: developer to enter into a Development Agreement 

with the Village Prior to Village Council approval of Record Plat. 

 

A motion to approve the Final Record Plat for the Shepherd’s Crossing Section 2 Subdivision 

was made by Bill Madison and seconded by Dennis Rees. A vote was taken: All YEAS. 

 

10. Communications: None 

11. Jim Smith made a motion to adjourn. Motion was seconded by Bill Madison. A vote was taken: All 

YEAS. 

 

 

_______________________    _____________________________ 

Darrick Zucco – Chairman      Brianna Yarbrough - Clerk 



VILLAGE OF SOUTH LEBANON 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO:  Planning Commission 
 
FROM: Jerry Haddix, Village Administrator 
 
RE: Case 17-07P, Site Plan Review for Primrose School of South Lebanon 
 
DATE: July 17, 2017 

 
 
 
On the agenda for the July 19th meeting is an application for approval of the site plan and landscape 
design for the Primrose School of South Lebanon to be located at 719 Corwin Nixon Boulevard 
located behind Speedway and is Lot One (1) of the Rivers Crossing West Section One Subdivision 
(the “Project”) submitted by Community Civil Engineers, the Project Engineer for the Project (the 
“Applicant”). 
 
Background 
The Project that is the subject of the application is located on 1.66 acres adjacent to Speedway to the 
south. The property is currently owned by Rivers Crossing Power, LLC. The present zoning 
classification is B-2 General Business District. The proposed Project consists of a 12,300 s.f early 
learning center/day care with access provided by a private access easement from Corwin Nixon 
Boulevard along the west side of Speedway. In addition to the building, there would be 16,641 s.f. of 
playground area which would be divided by age groups. 
 
Due to the geometry of the lot (right triangle) and surrounding geography, this lot presents many 
challenges to site layout, including utility easements along the State Route 48 side. The Applicant has 
attempted with relative success to fulfill all of the Village’s site plan requirements with this non-
standard lot. 
 
The Applicant received a Conditional Use Permit from the Village Board of Zoning Appeals for this 
Project on May 30, 2017. The Applicant also received approval for an offsite sign that could be located 
at their entrance on Corwin Nixon Blvd.  
 
The Union Township Fire Department has not submitted any written comments to date. 
 
Due to an oversight on my part, our engineer just received the stormwater management plan and is 
currently reviewing it. 
 
Zoning Code Analysis 
Upon review of the plans, it has been determined that the drawings generally satisfy the Zoning 
Regulations and Design Guidelines and Standards with the exceptions listed in the attached letter and 
accompanying site plan approval checklist. 
 
 



Zoning Process 
Pursuant to Article 18 of the Village Zoning Regulations, the development of any new use or 
construction of any new structures shall require site plan approval prior to construction and/or 
occupancy.  At the first regular meeting at which a site plan proposal is considered, the Commission 
shall first determine whether to accept the plan for processing. If accepted for processing, the 
Commission shall review the site plan in relation to applicable standards and regulations, and in 
relation to the intent and purpose of the Village Zoning Regulations and Design Guidelines and 
Standards. The Commission shall consider the comments and recommendations from the Village 
Administrator, the Village Engineer, public safety officials and other reviewing agencies. 
 
If the Commission determines that revisions are necessary to bring the site plan into compliance with 
applicable standards and regulations, the applicant shall be given the opportunity to submit a revised 
site plan.  The Commission shall review the revised site plan and application materials within 30 days 
after the Village received a complete revised site plan application. 
 
The Commission shall make a determination on a site plan based on the requirements and standards 
in the Zoning Regulations and Design Guidelines and Standards.  The Commission is authorized to 
grant approval, grant approval subject to conditions, or reject a site plan.  If the Commission chooses 
to grant approval subject to conditions, the Commission may waive its right to review the revised plan, 
and instead authorize the Zoning Administrator, or his designee, to review and recommend approval 
of the resubmitted plans if all required conditions have been addressed. 
 
If construction is not started within 18 months of final approval of the site plan, the site plan approval 
becomes null and void and a new application for site plan review shall be required.  
 
Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission grant its approval of the site plan and landscape 
plan for the Primrose School of South Lebanon with the following conditions: 
 

Prior to issuance of a zoning permit, the applicant must resubmit the site plan and provide the 
following information to the Zoning Administrator: 

1. Addressing the comments in the attached Site Plan Approval Checklist to the satisfaction 
of the Village Administrator and Choice One Engineering; 

2. Address any review comments relative to the stormwater management plan, 
3. Meet the requirements of the Union Township Fire Department; 
4. Signage will be reviewed separately by the Zoning Administrator at a later date 

 
Attachments 
Planning Commission Application 
Site Plan and Landscape Plan 
Village Engineer Checklist 
  







 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dear Mr. Haddix: 
 
Below and attached are our comments after reviewing the site plan and storm/detention 
calculations for the Primrose School for the first time. Choice One recommends the revision of 
the plans to account for these comments and resubmittal to us for a final review prior to 
approval. An electronic resubmission of these items would be acceptable to Choice One. 
 

- See attached site plan requirements checklist for additional comments. 
 

Page C2.0 
- ALTA survey notes reference that the property is in the 500 year floodplain but not the 100 

year floodplain. No Village of South Lebanon floodplain development permit should be 
needed. 

 
Page C3.0 

- Move “#3” Pentagon bubble over closer to where existing manhole needs adjusted. 
 
Page C4.0 

- Add new hatch to legend that explains what the diagonal playground hatch indicates 
- Typo in site notes note #4. 
- The building foundation appears to stick into the 30’ utility easement. Is it possible to shift 

the building to the north, even if it is only 6”? 
- As an FYI, the sidewalk and Ameristar fence are within the 30’ utility easement as well 

and may need to be removed if the sanitary sewer is maintained or replaced. 
- There is a flag pole and light pole on the northeast part of the site within the 30’ utility 

easement as well that are less than 7’ from the existing sanitary sewer. Can these be 
relocated slightly to avoid conflicts in the future? Can the light pole be moved 
somewhere around that parking area so that it is west of the sanitary sewer? 

- Bubble 27 indicates a bike rack is in the middle of the parking stall nearest the front 
entrance. Is this label just in the wrong spot? 
 

Page C5.0 
- Label invert of detention outlet on utility plan. 

 

Date Attention Address 

July 13, 2017 Jerry Haddix 
Village Administrator 

99 N. High Street 
South Lebanon, OH 45065 

Subject 
Primrose School Site Plan 
Review #1 
Village of South Lebanon, OH 
 



Page C6.0 
- Label finished floor elevation of the building on the grading plan. 

 
Page PM1.0 

- Foot candles over 1.0 spill onto Speedway’s lot. Please shield lights from spilling over 
property line. 

 
Page L.3 

- Text overlap on the “Multi-stem tree planting and staking detail”. 
 

Page C9.0 and Storm/Detention 
- Please submit calculations for how the detention system was sized. Currently only the 

storm piping from the catch basins has supporting calculations. Choice One will need to 
see pre vs. post calcs and what the release rates are for the outlet. 

- The tailwater elevation in the CDSS calcs should be the 100 year water elevation in the 
underground detention system. 

- Required design year for storm conduits is 25 year, not 10 year. Please revise. 
 
Page C11.0 

- Change all references of Warren County to the Village of South Lebanon. The Village 
follows the County’s standards but the Village is who needs contacted for inspections, 
taps, etc.  
 

Page C12.0 
- Prime coat is not required or desired between the 304-aggregate base and the asphalt 

layers for the standard and heavy duty asphalt pavement section. 
 

Ohio EPA 
- Submit to the Village a copy of the Ohio EPA Notice of Intent and also inform the Village 

of when it was submitted and when it was approved. 
 
ODOT 

- Submit MR-505 Right-of-Way permit to Ohio Department of Transportation for clearing 
and fence removal work in LA R/W of S.R. 48. Provide Village with copy of approved 
permit. 

 
If you have any questions, please contact our office. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
-  

 
Nicholas J. Selhorst, P.E. 
 

 



 
VILLAGE OF SOUTH LEBANON 
Site Plan Approval Checklist 

 
Development Name: Primrose School  Date Received  6/21/17 
Reviewed By: Nick Selhorst–Choice One Engineering  Date Reviewed 7/13/17 

 
All items below are required for site plan    
     approval from the Village Engineer  Approved                Comments           

1. Required Information                             Sec 15.18.20   
a. Appropriate Scale   
b. Sec 15.18.20.2 (a-n)  Note variances requested and secured on the site 

plan title sheet 
c. Sec 15.18.20.3 (a-x)  Foot candles over 1.0 spill onto Speedway 

property. 
d. Sec 15.18.20.4 (a-g)  Building foundation within 30’ utility easement 
e. Sec 15.18.20.5 (a-f)  Need detention pre vs. post calculations and 

outlet rates 
f. Sec 15.18.20.6 (a-l)   n/a 
g. Sec 15.18.20.7 (a-b)  Estimated number of employees needed 
h. Sec 15.18.20.8   
i. Sec 15.18.20.9   

2. Drainage Plan                                     Sec 15.18.21.12   
Floodway/Floodplain Impacts   
Detention and Retention Basin Calculations  Missing dention pre vs. post calculations, drainage 

map, and outlet rates 
Overflow Routing on and off-site   
Storm Sewer  25 year design storm per Warren Co. standards 
3. Utility Connection Plan                     Sec 15.18.21.15   

a. Main Extension Plan   
b. Lateral Service Plan   

4. Access Control Plan            Sec 15.18.21.8-11,20-21   
a. Driveway Widths and Locations   
b. Emergency Vehicle Access   
c. Pedestrian Access   
d. Coordination with Adjacent Sites   
e. Barrier-free Access   

5. Off-Street Parking                                         Sec 15.12   
a. Sec 15.12.2 (1-12)    
b. Sec 15.12.3 and 15.12.7   
c. Sec 15.12.4   
d. Sec 15.12.5   
e. Sec 15.12.6   
f. Sec 15.12.8   
g. Sec 15.12.9   
h. Sec 15.12.10   
i. Sec 15.12.11 (1-4)   

6. Erosion Control                                  Sec 15.18.21.13   
a. Erosion Control Plan   



 
VILLAGE OF SOUTH LEBANON 
Site Plan Approval Checklist 

 
Development Name: Primrose School  Date Received  6/21/17 
Reviewed By: Nick Selhorst–Choice One Engineering  Date Reviewed 7/13/17 

 
7. Lighting Plan                                       Sec 15.18.21.14   

a. Compliance with Sec 15.18.21.14   Foot candles over 1.0 spill onto Speedway 
property 

8. Appearance                                          Sec 15.18.21.3   
a. Compliance with Sec 15.18.21.3   

9. Landscape Plan                                             Sec 15.17   
a. Sec 15.17.4 (a-b)   
b. Sec 15.17.5.1 (a-d)   
c. Sec  15.17.6 (1-3)   
d. Sec 15.17.7   
e. Sec 15.17.8   

f. Sec 15.17.9.1   
g. Sec 15.17.9.2 (a-c)   
h. Sec 15.17.10 (1-4)   
i. Sec 15.17.11 (1-2)   

10. Screening                                          Sec 15.18.21.16   
a. Privacy   
b. Off-Street Parking   
c. Loading Areas   
d. Dumpster Enclosure   

11. All Other Items   
General Comments 
 
 
 
 

Please revise and resubmit the plans for a final 
review 

 










































